THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

DEC 10 2014

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

SC Court of Appeals

James O. Spence, Master in Equity

Case No.: 2010-CP-32-0460
Appellate Case No.: 2014-000741

David R. Gooldy,

Respondent,

vs.

The Storage Center – Platt Springs, LLC,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Robert E. Stepp
S.C. Bar No.: 5335
rstepp@sowellgray.com
Bess J. DuRant
S.C. Bar No.: 77920
bdurant@sowellgray.com
1310 Gadsden Street
Post Office Box 11449
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
Tel No.: (803) 929-1400

*Attorneys for Appellant, The Storage Center –
Platt Springs, LLC*

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- 1. DID THE MASTER-IN-EQUITY ERR IN FINDING AND CONCLUDING THE EXISTENCE OF AN IMPLIED EASEMENT BASED ON A DEED THAT DESCRIBED THE PROPERTY BY REFERENCE TO A PLAT WITH A “50’ ROAD” NOTATION OUTSIDE OF THE BOUNDARY LINES OF THE PROPERTY CONVEYED AND SURVEYED?**

- 2. DID THE MASTER-IN-EQUITY ERR IN FINDING AND CONCLUDING THE EXISTENCE OF AN IMPLIED EASEMENT WHEN THE COMMON GRANTOR’S REPRESENTATIVE TESTIFIED THAT THERE WAS NO INTENT TO CREATE AN EASEMENT OR ROAD, WHEN NO ROAD WAS EVER CREATED, AND WHEN SUBSEQUENT PLATS NEVER SHOWED A ROAD?**

- 3. DID THE MASTER-IN-EQUITY ERR IN AWARDING ACTUAL DAMAGES WHEN NO EASEMENT RIGHTS OF RESPONDENT HAVE BEEN VIOLATED AND PUNITIVE DAMAGES WHEN THERE IS NO EVIDENCE OF REPREHENSIBILITY OR EVIDENCE SUPPORTING THE RATIO BETWEEN ACTUAL AND PUNITIVE DAMAGES, AND WHEN THERE ARE NO COMPARABLE CASES WITH COMPARABLE PUNITIVE DAMAGE AWARDS?**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This dispute is about the existence of an implied easement. Respondent David R. Gooldy (“Gooldy” or “Respondent”) and Appellant The Storage Center – Platt Springs, LLC (“The Storage Center” or “Appellant”) are owners of adjacent property located on South Lake Drive in Lexington County, South Carolina. Prior to the filing of this lawsuit, Gooldy was using The Storage Center’s land that abuts the southern side of Gooldy’s Parcel as a driveway. On February 1, 2010, Gooldy filed a lawsuit against The Storage Center after The Storage Center closed off its property, thereby preventing Gooldy from using it as a driveway. (R. pp. 35 - 41.) In his lawsuit, Gooldy asserted four causes of action: (1) Declaratory Judgment, Easement by Implication or Estoppel, (2) Declaratory Judgment, Easement by Prescription, (3) Estoppel – Temporary and Permanent Injunctive Relief, and (4) Negligence/Gross Negligence/Intentional Act, Denial of Property Rights. (*Id.*) Gooldy argues that he is entitled to an easement over The Storage Center’s property because his deed, along with the deeds of his predecessors-in-title, references a plat that contains a notation that says “50’ road” outside of his boundary lines of the property surveyed on the plat. (R. pp. 37-38, ¶¶ 6-9.)

On February 25, 2010, Gooldy filed a motion for preliminary injunction, seeking an order preventing The Storage Center from interfering with his access to the driveway. (R. pp. 49 – 51.) In opposition to Gooldy’s motion, The Storage Center filed the affidavit of Carroll McGee, who is a partner of Congaree Associates that was the common grantor of both parties’ parcels of land. (R. pp. 59 - 61.) In his affidavit, McGee stated that Congaree Associates did not cause the at-issue plat to be prepared or that Congaree Associates ever subdivided its property and sold lots by reference to a plat showing a

road. (R.p. 59, ¶¶ 2-5.) Most importantly, McGee swore that Congaree Associates never built a road on the property and never gave Gooldy or any prior owner permission to encroach on its land. (R. p. 60, ¶¶ 6, 7.) On April 23, 2010, the circuit court denied Gooldy’s motion on the grounds that he “failed to make a sufficient showing of irreparable harm” and that he “has access to his property.” (R. p. 1.) The circuit court also referred this matter to the master-in-equity (“Master”), upon the consent of both parties. (*Id.*)

In response to Gooldy’s complaint, The Storage Center filed an answer, in which it asserted several affirmative defenses and pled a counterclaim against Gooldy for encroaching and trespassing on The Storage Center’s property. (R. pp. 42 - 48.) Specifically, The Storage Center denied that any road ever existed and also denied that Gooldy had any easement rights over property owned by The Storage Center. (R. pp. 42 – 44, ¶¶ 6-27.)

After the parties engaged in discovery, both parties filed motions for summary judgment. (R. pp. 52 - 53; R. pp. 54 – 73.) To support its motion for summary judgment, The Storage Center relied on the previously filed Affidavit of Carroll E. McGee and the Affidavit of James T. Loflin (R. pp. 59 - 72.) James Loflin acquired title to the property from Congaree Associates in 1986 and was a predecessor-in-title to Gooldy. (R. p. 63, ¶ 2.) In his affidavit, Loflin states that he used the property that abutted the southern side of the parcel presently owned by Gooldy, but that “[a]t all times, the strip of land I used to access my property was the property of Congaree Associates.” (R. pp. 63 – 64, ¶¶ 3, 6.) Moreover, he testified that he never owned the strip of land at issue and that he never acquired an easement to it. (R. p. 64, ¶ 7.) He further testified that when he conveyed the

parcel to his wife, he did not convey any easement rights with respect to the strip of land. (R. p 64, ¶¶ 7-9.) Finally, he testified that when his wife conveyed the parcel, she did not convey any easement rights because she never had any to convey. (R. p 64, ¶¶ 10-11.)

The Master denied the cross motions for summary judgment. (R. p. 2.)

On October 25, 2012, the case was tried before the Master. The Master granted a directed verdict to The Storage Center with respect to Gooldy's claim for easement by prescription because Gooldy failed to establish use that was adverse or under a claim of right for twenty years. (R. pp. 193:3 – R. pp. 203:19.) On July 29, 2013, the Master issued his order, in which he found and concluded (1) that Gooldy has access over the “road that borders the Plaintiff's property on the southern side”; (2) that Gooldy is entitled to \$2,500 for lost income when he had to construct an alternate makeshift entrance; and (3) that Gooldy is entitled to \$7,500 in punitive damages because The Storage Center prevented Gooldy access to the strip of land. (R. pp. 3 - 22.)

The Storage Center timely filed its motion to alter or amend the judgment on August 12, 2013. (R. pp. 74 - 84.) In its motion, The Storage Center set out numerous grounds as to why the Master should reconsider the Trial Order. (*Id.*) On November 15, 2013, the Master heard The Storage Center's motion. (R. pp. 407 - 454.) On March 13, 2014, the Master issued its Order denying The Storage Center's motion to reconsider. (R. pp. 23 – 32.)

The Storage Center is appealing both the Trial Order filed on August 1, 2013, and the Order filed on March 13, 2014. On April 9, 2014, The Storage Center timely filed and served its notice of appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

I. The Acquisition of Parcels by Gooldy and The Storage Center

Gooldy's property consists of approximately 0.68 acres, ("Gooldy Parcel") and was acquired by him on or about January 24, 2002 (R. pp. 375 - 376.). Gooldy operates his chiropractic practice from this location. (R. pp. 115:16-18.). The Storage Center owns property that surrounds Gooldy's Parcel on three sides ("Adjoining Property"). The deed conveying the property to Gooldy describes the property being conveyed by reference to a plat entitled "Plat Prepared for James Loflin" ("Loflin Plat"). (R. pp. 375-376.) The Loflin Plat was prepared on December 10, 1985 and was recorded in the Office of the Register of Mesne Conveyances for Lexington County on September 11, 1986 in Plat Book 212-G at Page 204.¹ (R. p. 377.) The Loflin Plat contains the notation "50' ROAD" on a portion of the Adjoining Property.² (*Id.*) The purported "road" is not surveyed and its beginning, end, boundaries and other dimensions are not shown on the Loflin Plat. (*Id.*) At the time the Loflin Plat was recorded, the Adjoining Property was owned by Congaree Associates, which was also the grantor of the property to Loflin that is now the Gooldy Parcel. (*See id.*; R. pp. 394 - 395.) The Adjoining Property is now owned by The Storage Center. (R. pp. 392 - 393.) The Loflin Plat was only a survey of the property being conveyed to Loflin, *i.e.* the Gooldy Parcel, and was not a survey of the surrounding property. (R. p. 212:8-14; R. p. 295:15-17.) Every deed

¹ The Loflin Plat was revised twice before the parcel was recorded on September 11, 1986. (R. p. 377.) First, it was revised on April 4, 1986 to show the "proposed dwelling, well, septic tank & tile field." (*Id.*) Second, it was revised on August 12, 1986 to show "20' strip along the northern property line." (*Id.*)

² The Loflin Plat does not depict all of the Adjoining Property or any of its boundaries except those shared with the Gooldy parcel.

in Gooldy's chain of title describes the property by reference to the Loflin Plat. (R. pp. 379 - 391.)

In 2007, Congaree Associates sold the Adjoining Property to The Storage Center. (R. pp. 392 - 393.) Prior to the sale, Frank Strasburger of Congaree Associates had the Adjoining Property surveyed and a plat prepared. The result was the "Strasburger Plat," which was drawn by Charles Meeler on October 26, 2006 and recorded in the Office of the Register of Deeds for Lexington County on October 27, 2006 on Slide 918 at Page 2. (R. pp. 396-398.) The Strasburger Plat does not show any road adjacent to the Gooldy Parcel or anywhere else on the Adjoining Property, and does not contain any references to an easement across the Adjoining Property in favor of Gooldy or anyone else. (*Id.*) When conveyed by Congaree Associates to The Storage Center, the Adjoining Land was described by reference to the Strasburger Plat, which was incorporated for descriptive purposes into the deed from Congaree Associates to The Storage Center. (R. pp. 392 - 393.)

II. Dispute Arises Between Gooldy and The Storage Center

Prior to the filing of this lawsuit, Gooldy was using The Storage Center's land that abuts the southern side of Gooldy's Parcel as a driveway. The present dispute arose when The Storage Center informed Gooldy that he could not use The Storage Center's property to access his parcel. The Storage Center attempted to settle the property dispute with Gooldy through a shared access agreement and a cash payment. (R. pp. 338:6 – 340:21.) These efforts to settle continued for approximately two years; however, Gooldy never agreed to any of The Storage Center's offers. (R. pp. 340:22 – 341:5.)

After its several attempts to resolve the matter, The Storage Center informed Gooldy in July 2009 that he did not have permission to use its land as a driveway and installed a wire fence to prevent entry. (R. p. 125:3-5; R. p. 166:3-11; R. p. 341:6-14.) At all times, The Storage Center was acting under its good faith belief that it had the unfettered right to control all of the property it owned. (R. p. 356: 8-12.) Moreover, The Storage Center did not prevent Gooldy from accessing his property, as was recognized by the circuit court when it denied Gooldy's motion for preliminary injunction. (R. p. 1.) Gooldy always has had the ability to access his property from its northern side, as well as directly from Highway 6. (R. pp. 172:22 – 173:1.)

III. Evidence Relating to the Alleged 50' Road and Easement

There is no fifty foot wide road adjoining the Gooldy Parcel. (R. p. 404; R. p. 378; R. pp. 160:14- 161:2) Likewise, there was no intent by Congaree Associates to grant Loflin or his successors in title any right to use any portion of the Adjoining Property for ingress, egress, or any other purpose. (R. p. 224:16-20.) It is undisputed that Congaree Associates did not intend the reference to the Loflin Plat in the deed to James Loflin, to create an easement. (*Id.*) The deed from Congaree Associates to Loflin referred to the Loflin Plat only for the purpose of describing the property being conveyed to Loflin, and only conveyed the property within the boundary lines shown on the Loflin Plat, *i.e.* the Gooldy Parcel. (R. pp. 228:8 – 229:13; R. pp. 394 – 395.) The subject of the “road” or any easement rights was never even mentioned or discussed. McGee testified: “Let me make this clear. I never discussed that road with Mr. Loflin or the successors to him. It never came up. Nobody ever asked me.” (R. p. 224:12-15.) McGee's testimony is unequivocal that by delivering the deed Loflin to be recorded, Congaree Associates did

not intend to create an easement. (R. pp. 228:13 – 229:13.) Additionally, Congaree Associates would not have incorporated the Loflin Plat in the legal description of the deed to Loflin if it knew that one of Loflin’s successors would claim rights to any easement in connection with the Gooldy Parcel. (R. p. 229:17-21.)

In addition to McGee’s testimony, plats of the Adjoining Property made subsequent to the conveyance to Loflin also establish that there was never an intent to create or convey any easement rights in favor of Loflin and his successors. Robert Collingwood, the same surveyor who prepared the Loflin Plat, drew plats of the Adjoining Property for Congaree Associates in 1998 and 2002. (R. pp. 399-405; R. p. 403.) Those plats, which reflect surveys of the property of Congaree Associates itself, do not show any road, and do not contain any reference to any easements, rights of way, or any other rights favoring the owner of the Gooldy Parcel. (*Id.*) In fact, the 2002 plat was revised on March 3, 2003 (nearly one year after Gooldy purchased his land) to show easements. (R. p. 403.) Again, Collingwood did not make any references to the alleged road or easement on the revised 2002 plat. (*Id.*) Additionally, both the Strasburger Plat and the Lexington County TMS map show no references to the alleged 50’ road. (R. pp. 396-398; R. p. 402.)

The 1998 and 2002 plats prepared for Congaree Associates were recorded in the Lexington County records. On the other hand, the only recorded plat containing any reference to the alleged road is the Loflin Plat. Unlike the 1998 and 2002 plats, the Loflin Plat was not a survey of Congaree Associates’ property, was not a survey of the road, and was not prepared for the benefit of Congaree Associates. Collingwood also prepared a proposed plat drafted before the Loflin Plat. (R. p. 405.) But unlike the 1998

and 2002 plats, this proposed plat (a) never received final approval from Lexington County, (b) was never recorded, and (c) reflects a contemplated project that Congaree Associates did not pursue or construct. Congaree Associates never subdivided its land or sold lots referencing a recorded subdivision plat. (R. p. 206:16-21; R. p. 214:24-25.) In sum, Congaree Associates never caused a plat to be prepared and recorded that contained any reference to a 50' road.

The absence of any intention by Congaree Associates to create a road is most starkly evidenced by the fact that no road has ever existed. Neither Congaree Associates, nor any subsequent owner ever caused a road to be built. (R. pp. 208:25-209:3; R. p. 209:20-25; R. p. 232:17-19; *see also* R. p. 404.) Consequently, no road existed at the time Gooldy purchased his parcel. (R. pp. 160:14-161:2.) None of these recorded plats shows a survey of a road. Charles Meeler, who drew the Strasburger Plat and has been a registered surveyor for twenty-four years (R. p. 244:17-20), testified as follows:

I didn't feel like there was a road there. In my professional opinion, there was no road. Lexington County required road names. I couldn't find a – I couldn't find a name for that alleged road, so, you know, to my knowledge and all the research work I did, there was no road existed there. South Carolina DOT had no record of a road there. Lexington County had no record of a road there. So I just felt like that was a part of [Congaree Associates'] property.

(R. p. 249:13-22.) Meeler's manifestly correct conclusion that no road existed was based on his review of the Loflin Plat, the 1998 and 2002 plats drawn by Collingwood, and Lexington County's TMS map that showed no road. (R. p. 265: 14-18; R. p. 271: 9-16.)

The lack of intent to create or convey any easement rights is evidenced by (1) the uncontroverted testimony of Carroll McGee of Congaree Associates that no easement was intended and none was ever even discussed, (2) the subsequent plats drawn by

Collingwood (the preparer of the Loflin Plat), Meeler, and Lexington County, and (3) the fact that no road ever existed.

IV. Expert Testimony of Rosser W. Baxter Jr.

Rosser W. Baxter Jr. is The Storage Center's well qualified expert. Baxter has been a surveyor for forty-seven years and a registered surveyor for thirty-three years. (R. p. 275:9-10; R. p. 280:2-9). In preparation for his testimony in the case, Baxter reviewed all of the relevant plats,³ deeds,⁴ and documents. Baxter also visually inspected the property (R. pp. 287:12 – 288:14; R. pp. 305:14- 307:18). Based upon this extensive body of information, as well as his forty-seven years of experience as a surveyor, Mr. Baxter testified as follows:

1. The notation of the "50' Road" on the Loflin Plat is not a survey of a road (R. p. 291:14-17; R. p. 296:21-23; R. p. 302:19-21), in part, because it fails to show any dimensions of the road (R. p. 301:14-17).
2. The "50' Road" notation on the Loflin Plat did not create a road (R. p. 291:18-23), and it was an error for the Loflin Plat to have included a reference to the alleged 50' Road when such a road never existed (R. p. 301:7-13; R. p. 312:12-15).
3. The Loflin Plat fails to meet surveying practices and standards by including the "50' Road" notation when it is not part of the Gooldy Parcel and such a road did not exist (R. pp. 302:19 – 303:2).

³ R. p. 377 & R. p. 396-398, R. p. 399-401, R. p. 403 & R. p. 404.

⁴ R. p. 379 - 391 & R. p. 392 – 393.

4. The “50’ Road” notation on the Loflin Plat does not mean that, as a matter of surveying principles that a 50’ road actually exists on the property (R. pp. 291:24 – 292:3).
5. The Loflin Plat is only a survey of the 0.68 acres conveyed to Loflin from Congaree Associates and not a survey of anything outside the 0.68 acres (R. pp. 292:24 – 293:10; R. p. 294:3-6).
6. The Loflin Plat is an individual lot plat, not a subdivision plat (R. p. 296:8-13).
7. The Loflin Plat does not indicate whether the alleged road is public or private (R. p. 297:23-25).
8. The Loflin Plat does not show any access from the Gooldy Parcel to the alleged 50’ road (R. p. 298:8-14) and creates no rights of access in the owner of the Gooldy Parcel (R. p. 315:2-7) and that even if the alleged road existed, the Loflin Plat does not establish that the owner of the Gooldy Parcel had the right to use the road (R. p. 298:15-18).
9. The Loflin Plat is the only public record he viewed that made any reference to an alleged 50’ road (R. p. 308:13-22).

Regarding further insufficiencies contained in the Loflin Plat, Baxter testified that the Loflin Plat does not identify Congaree Associates as the owner of the Adjoining Property. (R. pp. 298:19 – 299:21.) Baxter further testified that it is improper for a surveyor to reflect conditions on property that adjoins the property being surveyed. (R. p. 300:3-14.) Gooldy offered no testimony – expert or otherwise – to dispute Baxter’s expert opinion testimony.

V. Testimony Regarding Damages

Goody sought the following as damages: (1) reimbursement for his labor and costs in creating a “makeshift road” (R. pp. 133:2 – 134:1); (2) compensation for his lost income allegedly due to the barricading of access to the driveway (R. p. 139:2 – 10); and (3) punitive damages (R. pp. 35 - 41.). The only testimony regarding damages was proffered by Goody, himself. Regarding the reimbursement costs, he offered no calculation as to how his labor spent creating the “makeshift road” totals \$5,000 and offered no time records or receipts to substantiate the claim. (R. p. 171:6-14.) He also asserted that the “[c]onstruction of the barrier on access to the property” caused him to lose income from his chiropractic practice. (R. p. 138:20-23.) After the trial, the Master awarded Goody actual damages of \$2,500 for lost income due to his construction of the “makeshift” road. (R. p. 22.) Additionally, the Master granted a punitive damages award of \$7,500. (*Id.*)

STANDARDS OF REVIEW

I. Standard of Review for Existence of an Easement

“The determination of the existence of an easement is a question of fact in a law action and subject to any evidence standard of review when tried by a judge without a jury.” *Pittman v. Lowther*, 363 S.C. 47, 50, 610 S.E.2d 479, 482 (2005). However, an appellate court must correct any error of law and factual finding when ““there is no evidence that reasonably supports those findings.”” *Linda Mc Co., Inc. v. Shore*, 390 S.C. 543, 555, 703 S.E.2d 499, 505 (2010) (quoting *Roberts v. Gaskins*, 327 S.C. 478, 483, 486 S.E.2d 771, 773 (Ct. App. 1997)).

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