THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

RECEIVED

JAN 26 2015

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

SC Court of Appeals

James O. Spence, Master-in-Equity

---

Trial Court Case No.: 2010-CP-32-0460  
Appellate Case No.: 2014-000741

---

David R. Gooldy.....Respondent,

vs.

The Storage Center – Platt Springs, LLC.....Appellant.

---

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

James Randall Davis  
DAVIS, FRAWLEY, LLC  
140 East Main Street  
Post Office Box 489  
Lexington, South Carolina 29071  
Telephone: (803) 359-2512  
[randy@oldcourthouse.com](mailto:randy@oldcourthouse.com)  
ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

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

**ARGUMENT I**  
**DEED REFERENCING A PLAT SHOWING A**  
**ROAD CREATES AN EASEMENT IN THE GRANTEE**

Appellant argues that South Carolina law states that a road shown on a plat incorporated into a deed conveys only the physical dimensions of the conveyed lot and not any easement to the road unless the lot is a standard subdivision lot. *Bennett v. Investors Title Ins. Co., Inc.*, 635 S.E.2d 649 (Ct. App. 2006) and 635 S.E.2d 660 (Ct. App. 2006); *Lancaster v. Smithco, Inc.*, 246 S.C. 464, 144 S.E.2d 209 (1965).

Appellant incorrectly argues that *Bennett* stands for the proposition the plat incorporated by deed only conveys that portion of the physical outline of the property conveyed. Respondent would contend that the *Bennett* case held that the Grantor in a deed does not warrant or covenant the width of an existing highway right of way easement (easement given to a third party) by incorporating a plat that incorrectly states the width of a preexisting SCDOT easement. *Bennett* did hold that the right of way did exist. As our Supreme Court edified in the above referenced cases: A plat, however is not an index to encumbrances, and the mere reference in a deed, as in this case, to a plat for descriptive purposes does not incorporate a notation thereon as to an easement held by a third party so as to exclude such easement from the covenant against encumbrances in the absence of a clear intention that is to operate. *Bennett v. Investors Title Ins. Co., Inc.*, 635 S.E.2d 649 (Ct. App. 2006) and 635 S.E.2d 660 (Ct. App. 2006); *Lancaster v. Smithco, Inc.*, 246 S.C. 464, 144 S.E.2d 209 (1965).

As opposed to the pre-existing SCDOT easement in the *Bennett* case which is an easement to a third party, here the plat in question in this case incorporated an easement

not to a third party but to the grantee in the deed and that easement was created by the grantor as he deeded the property to the grantee. As our State courts have indicated, basic deed law states that if a deed describes land by referencing a plat, the plat becomes part of the deed. When streets, alleyways, parks or other open areas are displayed on plats in conjunction with sale of property, an easement is created in favor of the grantee. *Carolina Land Co., Inc. v. Bland*, 265 S.C. 98, 105, 217 S.E.2d 16, 19 (1975). Therefore, if an easement is recorded in a deed through a plat, it becomes part of the deed and is part of the chain-of-title. This rule was recognized and applied in *Cason v. Gibson*, 217 S.C. 500, 61 S.E.2d 58 (1950), as well as numerous other decisions of the Supreme Court and the Court and the Court of Appeals. These cases hold that such an easement inures to the benefit of the grantee and his successors in title. The existence of the easement will be implied by law, unless it appears that the grantor specifically intended otherwise. See also 28 C.J.S. *Easements* §§ 39 and 40 (1941).

Furthermore, the case law is clear that Respondent's relied upon principle includes cases wherein the grantor conveys land abutting a street (not necessarily a subdivision), and the grantee is entitled to the use of the street which borders its property and the grantor of the deed is estopped from denying the street's existence. *McAllister v. Smiley*, 301 S.C. 10. 389 S.E.2d 857 (1990); *Cason v. Gibson*, 217 S.C. 500, 61 S.E.2d 58 (1950).

The Court also notes that when a road is called for as a boundary, the tract extends to the center of the road, unless there is evidence of an intent to exclude the road on the face of the deed or plat. *Rushing v. Sellers*, 81 S.E.2d 281 (1954).

## ARGUMENT II

### EVIDENCE SUPPORTS CONGAREE ASSOCIATES INTENDING TO CREATE AN EASEMENT

The evidence does not support Appellant's argument that Congaree had no intention to convey an easement to Respondent's predecessor-in-title Loflin. The creation of an implied easement generally requires that the facts and circumstances surrounding the conveyance, the property, the parties, or some other characteristic demonstrate that the objective intention of the parties was to create an easement. 25 Am.Jur.2d *Easements and Licenses* § 19 (2004); 28A C.J.S. § 62; also *Murrells Inlet Corporation. v. Ward*, 378 S.C. 225, 662 S.E.2d 452.

However, on the issue of intent of the parties in creating an easement, the Courts have, over time, developed certain presumptions regarding the creation of implied easements in certain circumstances. One such presumption arises when an owner subdivides his land and has the land platted into lots and streets. This Court has recognized this presumption includes conveyance of properties referencing a road bordering the conveyed parcel. *McAllister v. Smiley*, 301 S.C. 10. 389 S.E.2d 857 (1990).

The recording of the plat expresses an intent to dedicate the road area for the use by the grantee in said conveyance. It would be the burden of the Appellant to overcome this presumption. Furthermore, the *Murrells Inlet* case indicates the deed and the recorded plat can be controlling, notwithstanding an "intent analysis". The lower court found that the deed in question was clear as to the grantor's intent and contains no specific objective evidence of expressing any intent except referencing the plat described in the deed which

shows the property bounded by the fifty (50') foot road on the southern side and creating an easement.

Even looking beyond the four corners of the deed as to intent, this intent is to dedicate the road in question for use by the grantee is based on the evidence that: (a) the grantor of the deed, Congaree, owned the road area in question at the time of the conveyance R. p. 210, lines 1-4, (b) reviewed the deed in question prior to the execution *Id.*, p.210, lines 7-14, (c) the surveyor who prepared the plat was the surveyor who had done previous work for Congaree, knew the history on the road, including the creation of Westchester Phase I and Phase II which was using the same road area as part of its access for Westchester Phase II *Id.*, p. 236, lines 1-4, (d) that surveying standards required Collingwood to show the road on the plat when he had specific knowledge of the road history, (e) that Congaree was deeding the Loflin/Respondent lot to an employee/agent who was building a log cabin model home adjacent to the fifty (50') foot road in question *id.*, p. 211, lines 7-15, (f), that it was clear as of the date of the Criss letter from the County of Lexington in 1985 showed that the proposed road area was still a viable road *id.*, p. 215, lines 13-24, (g) and there is no specific objective evidence that Congaree intended to terminate the easement area after the Criss letter .

Although McGee testified that since the road for Westchester Phase II would be too costly *id.*, p. 216, lines 3-10, he never intended for there to be an easement, he never testified when he came to this conclusion or whom he told. McGee testified that he never talked to anyone-not Collingwood or Loflin-- about the easement. Loflin did not testify. Collingwood did not testify. *Id.*, p. 148, lines 6-13.

There is no evidence of any letter to the County that Phase II was terminated, no corporate minutes indicating as decision was made to stop the subdivision process, no testimony or correspondence informing surveyor Collingwood.

### **Other Collingwood Plats**

Appellant has argued that other plats prepared by Collingwood (two most probably after the 1986 plat prepared by Collingwood for Loflin) shows intent not to convey an easement to Loflin, Respondents Predecessor-in-Title. The lower court gave little weight to this evidence due to the time between the disputed deed and the latter recorded plat. R. pp. 220-224. The time period in determining the issue of intent, would be the date of the execution of the Loflin deed and it must be determined by the four corners of the deed as cited in the *Murrells Inlet* case.

### **Right of Reliance by Subsequent Grantees**

Also when a grantor conveys, by an unambiguous deed referencing a plat and the deed contains no specific evidence of any intent except to create the easement, creates an easement that can be relied upon by subsequent purchasers acquiring the right to use the easement. It would be unfair to deny the subsequent purchasers, such as the Respondent, who purchased sixteen (16) years after the original conveyance the right to the full use and enjoyment of the easement as indicated by the plat, regardless of what the common grantor now argues what its intentions were at the time the deed and plat were recorded. *Murrells Inlet Corporation. v. Ward*, 378 S.C. 225, 662 S.E.2d 452.

### **No Ambiguity in Deed**

The validity of Respondent's position as to the easement is further supported in the principle that if there is any ambiguity in the deed (which the Court does not find) conveying the Loflin/Respondent's property the ambiguity should be construed liberally and most strongly in favor of the person who did not write or prepare the contract is not responsible for the ambiguity and any ambiguity in a contract doubt, or uncertainty as to its meaning, should be resolved against the party who prepared the contract or is responsible for the verbiage. Congaree was the grantor; Collingwood was Congaree's surveyor, and the grantee was a Congaree employee/agent.

The reason for the rule of strict construction against the party preparing the contract is that one who speaks or writes can, by exactness of expression, more easily prevent mistakes and meaning more than one with whom he is dealing, and that he who has brought the agreement into existence and, thus, primarily responsible for its inaccuracies should justly and suffer for its shortcomings, if any. *Myrtle Beach Lumber Company v. Willoughby*, 276 S.C. 3, 274 S.E.2d 423. The above rule of law that an ambiguity created by a drafter of the document supports Respondent's easement grant.

### **Validity of Westchester Phase II Plat**

Appellant contends that a plat R. p. 405, Defendant's Exhibit GG was only a proposed plat and provides no evidence to support that Congaree intended to convey an easement to Respondent's Predecessor-in-Title Loflin. Citing the following reasons: (a) never received final approval from Lexington County; (b) was never recorded; and (c) reflects a project Congaree intended not to pursue. Respondent would respond by

indicating that the plat was approved by the Planning Office in Lexington County, subject to minor clarifications R. p. 256, lines 11-13. Secondly, the importance of the plat shows that Congaree intended and had taken the governmental steps to have a road approved and that road included an area which is reflected as the road area on the Loflin plat. The surveyor for Congaree, Bob Collingwood, prepared the Westchester Phase II plat and it was prepared prior to the Loflin plat and he is the same surveyor that prepared the Loflin plat that showed on the Loflin plat this same road area *Id.*, p. 236, lines 1-8. The record is void of any evidence that Congaree intended to terminate the approval process for this road area prior to the conveyance from Congaree to Loflin. As the lower court held, in its Order, at trial McGee testified he never discussed the road with Loflin or Collingwood, his surveyor. McGee never testified about WHEN or WHY or HOW or to WHOM he communicated his purported change of mind about the road. He simply stated that after he realized the project was too costly, then Phase II was never developed.

### **ARGUMENT III**

#### **ROAD DESIGNATION ON PLAT NOT NAMED**

Appellant further argues that the fifty (50') foot road area referred to on Respondent's plat was an error because it was not named nor was it part of the State of South Carolina, County of Lexington road system. In the case of *Murrells Inlet Corporation. v. Ward*, 378 S.C. 225, 662 S.E.2d 452, the Court states the grantee receives a private easement at the time of conveyance in any streets referenced in the plat. *Carolina Land*, 265 S.C. 105-106, 217 S.E.2d 19; *Blue Ridge*, 247 S.C. 119, 145 S.E.2d 925; *Giles*, 304 S.C. 73, 403 S.E.2d 132.; see *Newington Plantation*, 318 S.C. 365,

458 S.E.2d 38 (“While dedication for public use is significant to the creation of a public easement, it is irrelevant to the determination whether a private easement exists.”). “[W]here lands are platted and sales are made with reference to the plat, the acts of the owner in themselves merely create private rights in the grantees entitling the grantees to the use of the streets and ways laid down on the plat or referred to in the conveyance.” *Vick v. S.C. Dep't of Transp.*, 347 S.C. 470, 478, 556 S.E.2d 693, 697 (Ct.App.2001) (quoting *Outlaw*, 222 S.C. 31, 71 S.E.2d 512). “Absent evidence of the seller's intent to the contrary, a conveyance of land that references a map depicting streets conveys to the purchaser, as a matter of law, a private easement by implication with respect to those streets, whether or not there is a dedication to public use.” *Newington Plantation*, 318 S.C. 365, 458 S.E.2d 38.

The fact that the road has not been dedicated, expressly or impliedly, to a governmental entity is irrelevant as to whether a private easement exists in the subject road which is what the Respondent is claiming in his action. The case of *Walker v. Guignard*, 293 S.C. 247, 359 S.E.2d 528, indicates that as between an owner who conveyed a lot, according to a plat, and the grantee, dedication is complete upon conveyance even though the street is not accepted by public authorities. The rights in the road after the conveyance of the grantee were created even though the street had never been used as a road and had been listed as an unopened road area.

It is clear from the above law that even though you do not have a state or county road, the law creates a private easement to the abutting property owner even though the road is not public.

Appellant also argues that the road is not a road because its description is too vague or undefined. This argument is not persuasive. First, it is not essential to the validity of a grant of an easement that it be described by metes and bounds or by figures given definite dimensions of the easement. 28 A C.J.S. *Easements* § 54 (1996). Second, Equity Courts have the ability to locate width and location of a road and the determination of the extent of an easement is equitable. *Plott v. Justin Enterprises*, 374 S.C. 504, 649 S.E.2d 95 (1987).

### **Road Defined to a Great Degree of Certainty**

The proper examination of the public records reveals that the road is defined to a great degree of certainty. The common grantor, Congaree, had already recorded the Westchester Phase I plat. The fifty (50') foot road shown on the Loflin/Respondent plat is located to the north of Phase I, Lot 13 of Westchester Subdivision. This lot of two hundred fifty (250') feet (the identical boundary footage length), of the Respondent's property on the southern side. As the survey shows, the same surveyor, Collingwood, placed the pins in the ground along the road in question for both lots (Lot 13 of Phase I of Westchester Subdivision and the Loflin/Respondent's lot) so that the fifty (50') foot road is bounded by both lots. The eastern side of the fifty (50') foot road in question is bounded by S.C. Highway 6. The Loflin/Respondent's plat indicates a dotted line running west which gives indication that the road in question is to continue.

Furthermore, Respondent testified that at the time he purchased the property, the area in question had been used as a road area. There was an asphalt entrance from South Lake Drive onto the fifty (50') foot road area, a gravel road driveway in the fifty (50') foot

area which extended in a semicircle from one side of the Respondent's property to the other side. This road area was an open area. This road area appeared on the Appellant's plat at the time of purchase. The lower court made a specific finding and conclusion that the easement that the Respondent had was access for ingress and egress over the road that borders the Respondent's property on the southern side which would be fifty (50') feet in width on eastern and western sides and two hundred and fifty (250') feet in length on the northern side and southern side with the boundary on the southern side of the road being the northern boundary of Lot 13, Phase I of Westchester Subdivision and the northern boundary being the southern boundary of the 0.68 acre lot (Respondent's lot).

#### **ARGUMENT IV**

##### **EVIDENCE SUPPORTS IMPOSING PUNITIVE DAMAGES**

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